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GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR CONTESTING TENTATIVE RULINGS IN DEPT. 12 

 
NOTE PROCEDURE CAREFULLY 

 
The tentative ruling will become the Court’s ruling unless by 4:00 p.m. of the court day preceding 
the hearing, counsel or self-represented parties call the department rendering the decision to 
request argument and to specify the issues to be argued. Calling counsel or self-represented 
parties requesting argument must advise all other affected counsel and self-represented parties by 
no later than 4:00 p.m. of his or her decision to appear and of the issues to be argued. Failure to 
timely advise the Court and counsel or self-represented parties will preclude any party from 
arguing the matter. (Local Rule 3.43(2).) 
 
Note: In order to minimize the risk of miscommunication, Dept. 12 prefers and encourages fax or 
email notification to the department of the request to argue and specification of issues to be 
argued – with a STRONG PREFERENCE FOR EMAIL NOTIFICATION.  Dept. 12’s Fax Number 
is: (925) 608-2693.  Dept. 12’s email address is: dept12@contracosta.courts.ca.gov.  Warning: 
this email address is not be used for any communication with the department except as expressly 
and specifically authorized by the court.  Any emails received in contravention of this order will be 
disregarded by the court and may subject the offending party to sanctions. 
 

Submission of Orders After Hearing in Department 12 Cases 
 
The prevailing party must prepare an order after hearing in accordance with CRC 3.1312. If the 
tentative ruling becomes the Court’s ruling, a copy of the Court’s tentative ruling must be 
attached to the proposed order when submitted to the Court for issuance of the order. 
 

 

 1.  TIME: 10:00   CASE#: MSC18-00570 
CASE NAME: RUIZ-LOZITO VS. WCCUSD 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 
SET BY COURT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiffs Ruiz-Lozito, Young, and Bay Area Voting Rights Initiative move for a preliminary 
injunction requiring defendant West Contra Costa Unified School District to conduct its 2018 
election of the District’s Board by single-member districts, rather than by District-wide at-large 
elections (as is the present practice).  Plaintiffs offer a proposed districting map by which they 
argue this could be done, and effectively ask the Court to adopt that map as mandatory. 
 
The motion is denied. 
 

Plaintiff’s Complaint, and the Setting for This Motion 
 
Plaintiffs’ complaint generally alleges that the District’s current at-large voting structure 
impermissibly dilutes the votes of racial minorities, namely Latinos and black people.  The result 
of the District’s at-large voting system is that it deprives racial minorities of the opportunity to 
elect the trustees that comprise the District’s five-member Board.  The District’s Board governs 
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five cities – Richmond, San Pablo, Hercules, El Cerrito, and Pinole – and eight unincorporated 
areas. 
 
The totality of the circumstances, the complaint alleges, “indicates that the practice of at-large 
elections has the effect of denying Latino and black residents an equal opportunity to participate 
in the political process.”  Three of the five current trustees are white and from El Cerrito, which 
comprises only 10% of the District’s population.  Only three Latinos, six black people, and not 
one Asian candidate have been elected in the past 50 years. 
 
The Complaint further alleges that Board members are aiming to repeat an illicit strategy in 
order “to conduct the 2018 election in violation of state and federal law [] and defer any 
compliance until 2020.”  (Compl. ¶ 43.)  To prevent this outcome, Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief 
against the District for violations of the California Voting Rights Act of 2001 (“CVRA”), and in the 
alternative, for violations of § 2 of the Federal Voting Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 10301.  (Complaint 
at ¶¶ 1, 56-63, 64-72.) 
 
The District, for its part, has commenced a process of moving toward a switch to single-member 
districts.  That process is underway, but not close to completion.  Although plaintiffs are not 
entirely in agreement with the District about how to conduct this process, plaintiffs’ principal 
criticism of it is simply that it takes too long – and in particular, that it cannot possibly result in 
any such switch-over in time for the 2018 election.  As the Court remarked in its ruling last week 
on the District’s demurrer to the Complaint, that is no small matter.  The Court commented then:  
“It remains to be seen whether plaintiffs’ demand for immediate relief is well-founded 
substantively; whether plaintiffs’ proposed immediate action is workable and fair; or whether, as 
a matter of equitable discretion, the Court may choose to let matters proceed on a lengthier 
timeline.  But as a pleading matter there is no justification for dismissing plaintiffs’ complaint out 
of hand on the plea that ‘we’re working on it’.  If (as plaintiffs allege) the present system violates 
state and federal statutes; and if (as plaintiffs allege) it is feasible to remedy that violation in time 
for the 2018 elections; and if (as plaintiffs allege) the District is dragging its feet if not worse – 
then plaintiffs have a cogent argument for immediate action despite the District’s objections.  If 
those things prove to be so, then plaintiffs are not required to tolerate an unlawful 2018 election 
just because the District wants to take longer to remedy a conceded illegality.” 
 
There is a countervailing consideration, however.  It must be observed that the effect of this 
preliminary injunction, if granted, will be to short-circuit the entire orderly process now underway 
– including its elements of public participation and comment, and the direct involvement in 
conducting that process of the elected public officials to whom that job is supposed to be 
entrusted.  Instead, plaintiffs seek to entrust the entire job of deciding how the District will 
conduct its elections to a single Superior Court Judge – and with that judicial decision to be 
made on the basis of a hastily briefed motion and a poorly developed paper record.  To make 
that observation is not necessarily to doom plaintiffs’ effort, for such judicial intervention is 
sometimes necessary to bring about compliance with the law.  Were it otherwise, the entire 
South would still be segregated today.  But the observation does command caution in deciding 
thus to dispense with the usual democratic procedures in favor of judicial ones. 
 

The Applicable Legal Standards 
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In deciding plaintiffs’ request, the Court must weigh (1) the likelihood that plaintiffs will ultimately 
prevail on the merits, and (2) the relative interim harm to both sides from issuance or non-
issuance of the injunction.  (See O’Connell v. Superior Court (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 1452, 
1463-64.)  The Court has discretion to balance these two factors; e.g., a particularly strong 
showing on the merits by plaintiffs might overcome a modest showing of interim harm by 
defendant.  However, the first criterion is not completely dispensable; plaintiffs must show "some 
possibility" of prevailing on the merits, regardless of the relative interim harm.  (See Jessen v. 
Keystone Savings & Loan Assn. (1983) 142 Cal.App.3d 454, 459.) 
 
Further, plaintiffs seek a mandatory preliminary injunction that would change the status quo 
pending trial.  Such a mandatory injunction is rarely granted; it is permitted only in extreme 
cases where the right to such relief is clearly established.  (Shoemaker v. County of Los 
Angeles (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 618, 625.) 
 
Plaintiffs have the burden of proof in this proceeding.  (O'Connell, 141 Cal.App.4th at 1481.)  
To meet this burden, plaintiffs were required to come forward with “competent evidence”.  
(Carsten v. City of Del Mar (1992) 8 Cal.App.4th 1642, 1655.) 
 

Plaintiffs’ Evidentiary Showing 
 
Measured against these standards, plaintiffs’ motion falls woefully short of establishing a case 
for a preliminary injunction.  Indeed, it is only a slight exaggeration to say that plaintiffs present 
no admissible and competent evidence at all, either as to the illegality of the existing at-large 
system, or as to the suitability and feasibility of the substitute district map that plaintiffs are 
asking the Court to adopt wholesale. 
 
Plaintiffs’ brief in support of this motion contains much cogent and ardent argument as to why 
the Court must act, and why it cannot allow the status quo to remain in place given that the 
illegality of the present system is so patently shown, and an appropriate, fair, and feasible 
remedy is so easily identified.  What the brief is lacking, however, is any serious attempt to 
demonstrate that the present system is illegal, or that the proposed remedy is appropriate, fair, 
and feasible.  The brief essentially assumes its own premises. 
 
Incompleteness of the brief would be of little substantive consequence, if the supporting 
evidence submitted in support of the motion were otherwise sufficient.  It isn’t. 
 
At the outset, the Court must express its disapproval of Mr. Rafferty’s practice (in both of his 
declarations) of substituting correspondence for sworn testimony.  It is not a suitable practice to 
attach a previously sent letter (or other unsworn document) in which a party has laid out its 
arguments, and then just attest in the covering declaration that everything in the letter is true.  
Nor, in this age of word processing, is that even much of a logistical convenience.  Putting one’s 
factual assertions into the declaration as such, besides being proper form in itself, also has the 
advantages of causing the declarant to sort out his factual assertions from his legal arguments 
and rhetoric; to focus on whether the declarant really has a foundation of personal knowledge 
for his factual assertions; and to attest to them directly under oath. 
 
Having said all that, however, the result of this motion would be no different if Mr. Rafferty had 
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put his factual assertions into his declarations.  As will be discussed, most of those assertions 
are inadmissible, and they are substantively insufficient to support plaintiffs’ motion. 
 
At the time plaintiffs appeared ex parte with a request for a temporary restraining order, the 
Court commented informally that taking up this issue as a preliminary injunction motion would 
have the advantage of allowing plaintiffs to improve on what appeared to be a facially 
insufficient evidentiary showing on the merits.  Plaintiffs’ entire evidentiary submission on this 
motion as to illegality or liability, however, appears to be that same showing, or at least 
something not much amended from it – namely Rafferty’s three-page first declaration.  The 
Court makes detailed rulings infra on defendant’s objections to this evidence.  For now, the 
Court observes that the only exposition of facts offered to prove liability (that is, illegality) in this 
case is some seven pages of Rafferty’s attached demand letter.  Besides being unsworn, 
however, that presentation is entirely lacking in any mention of any sources or authentication of 
the data it asserts.  Nor is there the slightest effort to show any foundation or expertise to 
support Rafferty’s analysis of those data.  Even if this exposition were more properly found in a 
sworn declaration, it would be flatly inadmissible as evidence. 
 
The same is true of Rafferty’s second declaration (half a page long), which purports to speak of 
the feasibility of plaintiffs’ proposed district map.  Again, it puts all its factual exposition into an 
unsworn letter; and again, it neither identifies any source for its data assertions, nor establishes 
that Rafferty has the expertise to be able to testify as an expert witness in demographic 
analysis.  The Court sustains defendant’s objection to this declaration in its entirety. 
 
In response defendant presents a declaration from Mr. Johnson, who (as plaintiffs apparently 
don’t dispute) is qualified as a demographic expert.  This is not the trial, and the Court need not 
make any final factual findings on the merits.  For purposes of assessing plaintiffs’ showing on 
this preliminary injunction motion, however, the Court does view Johnson’s critiques of 
Rafferty’s analysis as trenchant and persuasive.  Among other points, the Court shares 
Johnson’s mystification as to why, in drafting a proposed district map, Rafferty uses an 
unsubstantiated spreadsheet-based methodology, rather than taking advantage of the free 
districting software that defendant has made available to the general public on its website.  
Defendant is hardly in a position to criticize that software methodologically.  If plaintiffs had used 
it to demonstrate the fairness and feasibility of their proposed solution, it would have gone a 
long way toward making at least that half of their missing factual case. 
 
Plaintiffs also assert that their “verified Complaint” demonstrates a violation of at least the 
federal Voting Rights Act.  (Opening Memorandum at 13:13-16.)  However, the Court’s original 
of the Complaint is not verified. 
 
Plaintiffs’ opening and reply memoranda are replete with other assertions of fact that are not 
supported by any references to purported evidence, much less to competent evidence.  As just 
one example, plaintiffs criticize defendant’s public hearings as having been “almost completely 
unpublicized,” but this factual assertion finds no support in plaintiffs’ supporting declarations.  
(Opening Memorandum, pp. 12-13.)  The Court has not considered any of these unverified 
factual assertions. 
 
Finally, plaintiffs appear to be arguing that defendant has “conceded” plaintiffs’ likelihood of 
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prevailing on the merits, either by voluntarily agreeing to adopt trustee-area districts in place of 
the current at-large voting system, or by failing to offer opposition evidence on the merits.  
“Conceded” where, and how?  In other settings plaintiffs’ counsel has himself complained 
volubly that he cannot get defendant to take a firm position on merits issues, such as whether 
voting patterns are or aren’t polarized.  Further, defendant’s stated intention to move to a single-
member system – or even its demographer’s stated preference for minority-majority districts, 
assuming arguendo that that preference can be imputed to defendant itself – hardly constitutes 
a concession of illegality under either Voting Rights Act, as opposed to simply a decision that 
moving to single-member districts is a good thing to do.  (Or, for that matter, that it’s the way to 
avoid expensive litigation.)  And as for defendant’s own factual showing, defendant does not 
bear the burden of proof on this motion – plaintiffs do.  If plaintiffs have not carried that burden, it 
is not required that defendant disprove plaintiffs’ case at this juncture. 
 
The Court notes that a document submitted by plaintiffs themselves demonstrates the lack of a 
consensus concerning the existence of past violations.  (See, 1st Rafferty Dec., Exhibit 2.)  
Mister Phillips, defendant’s clerk, offered the following comments: 
 

Mr. Phillips’ remarks continued about the District currently being 67% majority 
minority with whites making up 32%.  He asked how there could be racially 
polarized voting when the statistics say that minorities are not voting for minority 
candidates.…  Mr. Philips continued to speak about the assumption that whites 
do not vote for other than white candidates saying he was of the opinion that the 
numbers were telling a different story. 

  
These remarks hardly constitute a “concession” of state or federal violations. 
 
On June 27 plaintiffs filed a third Rafferty declaration, despite having timely filed a reply brief.  
This is manifestly untimely and unfair.  There is no warrant in the Court’s rules for such a late 
submission, nor do plaintiffs proffer even the slightest excuse for not having submitted this 
material much earlier.  Defendant for its part has been given no reasonable time or opportunity 
to review this material, object to it, or rebut it.  Nor, for that matter, is the Court itself given 
sufficient time to review and digest this material before posting its tentative ruling.  (And the 
inexorability of the July 5 electoral deadline would make it impractical to continue the matter for 
such review, objection, or rebuttal, even if the Court were otherwise inclined to tolerate this 
gamesmanship.)  The Court simply disregards this impermissible untimely submission. 
 
So where does all this leave plaintiffs?  With almost literally no evidence at all.  It is their burden 
to establish their case, both on the Voting Rights Act merits and on the equitableness and 
feasibility of the proposed remedy.  They do not come close to carrying that burden. 
 

Other Points and Concerns 
 
Liability aside, the Court has significant concerns about plaintiffs’ proposed remedy – which, it is 
worth repeating, would become the only basis for conducting the 2018 election if this 
preliminary injunction were granted.  
 
First, the opposition declaration of professional demographer Douglas Johnson raises serious 
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questions about Mr. Rafferty’s qualifications, data, and methodology.  (Johnson Dec., ¶¶ 10-17.)  
These include the map’s apparent failure to create a Latino-majority district, its failure to create 
compact districts, and its possible non-compliance with federal law on racial gerrymandering.  

 
Second, plaintiffs appear to acknowledge that their map would require the County registrar to 
change at least one voting precinct boundary – an act that the registrar has so far been unwilling 
to perform.  (See, 6-4-18 letter, p. 3 [“plaintiffs have accommodated [the registrar’s] constraint, 
with the exception of San Pablo 106, a large precinct between San Pablo and Rollingwood”].)  
Because the County is not a party, the Court has no jurisdiction to order the registrar to change 
precinct boundaries.  Thus, even if the Court were to order defendant to conduct the 2018 
election as plaintiffs wish, it does not appear that defendant would be able to do so. 

 
Third, while plaintiffs state in their opening papers that they intended to submit their proposed 
map for public comment, plaintiffs offer no evidence that they have actually done so.  
Defendant, by way of contrast, has offered opposition evidence demonstrating that it has 
submitted five alternative maps for public comment.  (Walton Dec., ¶¶ 4-6.)  The Court is highly 
reluctant to impose on the public a dramatic change to the current voting system, without the 
opportunity for public comment.  Plaintiffs have offered no evidence demonstrating that any of 
defendant’s five maps is unsatisfactory. 

 
Finally, plaintiffs request that if their map is not used in the 2018 election, defendant should be 
enjoined from certifying the outcome of that election.  But if the Court does not find a sufficient 
evidentiary showing why it should enjoin defendant from conducting that election, why on Earth 
would the Court be willing to preordain that that election will be an exercise in futility?  Plaintiffs 
have not persuaded the Court that disenfranchising all voters within the District is an equitable 
way to address the alleged disenfranchisement of some minority voters.  Nor do plaintiffs offer 
evidence that the trustees who would be appointed following an uncertified election would be 
more representative of minorities than the trustees who will actually be elected.  The Court 
wonders how the public would react if a Latino trustee were elected in 2018, but was not 
allowed to serve by judicial fiat.  Finally, plaintiffs have failed to address the cost of holding 
a special election in 2019. 
 
As a third alternative, plaintiffs request that, if their map is not used in the 2018 election, the 
terms of the elected trustees should be limited to two years.  The sole basis for this request is 
plaintiffs’ speculation that the elected trustees would not perform their decennial redistricting 
duties in good faith.  This is not a valid legal ground for granting injunctive relief.  (See, Korean 
Philadelphia Presbyterian Church v. California Presbytery (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 1069, 1084 
[“[a]n injunction cannot issue in a vacuum based on the proponents' fears about something that 
may happen in the future”].) 
 

Evidentiary Objections 
 
The Court rules as follows on defendant’s evidentiary objections.  In the future defendant shall 
number any evidentiary objections sequentially, for ease of reference. 
 
 1st Rafferty Declaration.  The objection to the entire declaration is overruled; personal 
knowledge of at least a few matters may be inferred.  ¶ 2: overruled as to the authentication of 
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the “demand letter” attached as Exhibit 1, and as to the date defendant received the demand 
letter by certified mail (see Spinelli Dec., ¶ 3); sustained as to the contents of the demand letter, 
insofar as the declarant is impliedly alleging that the contents are true, based on a lack of 
demonstrated personal or expert knowledge; and otherwise sustained on the grounds stated in 
the objection.  ¶ 3: overruled as to the authentication of the official minutes attached as 
Exhibit 2, the authenticity of which defendant does not meaningfully dispute; sustained as to the 
declarant’s characterization of those minutes.  ¶ 4: overruled as to the characterization of the 
Complaint, because the declarant is merely stating his intent when including the subject map 
within the Complaint; sustained as to the percentage figures for Latino voters, based on a lack 
of demonstrated personal or expert knowledge; sustained as to the subject map included within 
the body of the declaration, insofar as the declarant is impliedly alleging that the map is 
accurate, based on a lack of demonstrated personal or expert knowledge; sustained as to the 
allegations that the county registrar may have “reprecincted” parts of San Pablo, Hercules, and 
Briones, which allegations appear to be based on hearsay for which no hearsay exception has 
been established; and sustained as to the allegation concerning “the contiguity of the precincts,” 
on all grounds stated in the objection and on the additional ground that the allegation is 
unintelligible.  ¶ 5: sustained as to the “draft map” attached as Exhibit 3, for lack of proper 
authentication; sustained as to the percentage figure for Latino voters, which appears to be 
based on hearsay for which no hearsay exception has been established; and sustained as to 
the criticism of “Area 4” and the characterization of “Area 5,” based on a lack of demonstrated 
personal or expert knowledge.  ¶ 6: overruled as to the authentication of the email attached as 
Exhibit 5 (not 4), and as to the date of that email; sustained insofar as the declarant is impliedly 
alleging that the contents of the email are true, based on a lack of demonstrated personal or 
expert knowledge; and sustained as to the declarant’s argumentative and superfluous 
characterization of the email.  ¶ 7: overruled as to the authentication of the letter attached as 
Exhibit 4 (not 5), and as to the date of the letter; sustained insofar as the declarant is impliedly 
alleging that the contents of the letter are true, based on a lack of demonstrated personal or 
expert knowledge; and sustained as to the declarant’s argumentative and superfluous 
characterization of the letter.  ¶ 8: sustained on the ground that the allegation concerning 
video recordings is unintelligible — footnotes 2 and 3 of the memorandum filed on June 8 
do not reference video recordings; sustained as to the “attempted” transcription of the video 
recordings by the declarant, which would appear to be hearsay for which no hearsay exception 
has been established. 
 
 2nd Rafferty Declaration.  The objection to the entire declaration is sustained; this is an 

expert witness declaration for which no adequate foundation has been laid.  The declarant does 

not adequately establish any of the following: (1) his qualifications for testifying as an expert in 

this area; (2) the materials on which he relied; (3) his methodology, and; (4) the reasoning by 

which he reached his opinion that plaintiffs’ proposed map provides minorities with “the best 

chance at an equal opportunity to elect candidates of their choice …” 
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 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC12-02083 
CASE NAME: ST. MARK VS. SAINT MARK 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR ADJUDICATION 
FILED BY ST. MARK BAPTIST CHURCH PITTSBURG 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
This matter comes before the Court on cross-motions.  Plaintiff St. Mark Baptist Church of 
Pittsburg (St. Mark Pittsburg) seeks summary judgment or summary adjudication in the 
alternative.  Defendant St. Mark at Bethel Missionary Baptist Church (St. Mark at Bethel) seeks 
summary judgment only.  St. Mark at Bethel filed its motion on May 10, 2018, but the parties 
stipulated to hearing it concurrently with St. Mark Pittsburg’s motion.  (See Credit Suisse First 
Boston Mortgage Capital, LLC v. Danning, Gill, Diamond & Kollitz (2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 1290, 
1301 [“The statutorily mandated minimum notice period for summary judgment may be waived 
by the parties…”].)  The Court addresses both motions in this ruling. 
 
The motion of St. Mark Pittsburg is granted to the extent of summary adjudication of some of 
St. Mark at Bethel’s affirmative defenses, but otherwise denied.  The motion of St. Mark at 
Bethel is denied. 
 
The Court speaks of St. Mark Pittsburg as the plaintiff, for ease of exposition.  As will appear, 
however, there is uncertainty as to whether the persons bringing this lawsuit are or are not 
properly regarded as the representatives of St. Mark Pittsburg.  The Court does not intend to 
assume (or conclude) the result of that debate at this juncture. 
 

I. Background 
 
The factual and procedural history is substantial and is summarized in the prior Court of Appeal 
opinion.  (See St. Mark Baptist Church of Pittsburg v. St. Mark at Bethel Missionary Baptist 
Church, 2015 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 9229, *1-9  [“St. Mark”].)  Briefly, St. Mark Pittsburg and 
New Bethel Missionary Baptist Church of Pittsburg (New Bethel) entered into a written 
Agreement to Merge (Agreement) by which they would become St. Mark at Bethel.  The parties 
dispute whether that merger was completed.  But St. Mark Pittsburg transferred property at 908 
Carpino in Pittsburg to St. Mark at Bethel under a grant deed signed by individuals who St. Mark 
Pittsburg now claims did not have the requisite authority.  In response, St. Mark at Bethel 
contends that: 1) the merger was completed and therefore the transfer was proper; and 2) the 
individuals executing the grant deed in fact had authority to do so on behalf of St. Mark 
Pittsburg. 
 
Several years ago, St. Mark Pittsburg recorded a lis pendens and sought an injunction 
prohibiting the sale of 908 Carpino.  St. Mark at Bethel successfully expunged the lis pendens 
and defeated the injunction.  The Court of Appeal affirmed both decisions, and in doing so 
commented that the individuals purporting to act on behalf of St. Mark Pittsburg were unlikely to 
succeed on the merits based on their apparent lack of authority.   (St. Mark, at *13-14.) 
 

II. St. Mark Pittsburg’s Motion For Summary Judgment/Adjudication 
 

A. Standards for Summary Judgment/Adjudication Motions Brought by a Plaintiff 
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Under Code of Civil Procedure § 437c(a) a plaintiff may bring a summary judgment motion “if it 

is contended that . . . there is no defense to the action or proceeding.” (See also Code Civ. Proc. 

§ 437c(f)(1) [a party may move for summary adjudication if it contends “that there is no merit to 

an affirmative defense as to any cause of action”].)  The summary judgment motion “shall be 

granted if all the papers submitted show that there is no triable issue as to any material fact and 

that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” (Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(c).) 

A plaintiff or cross-complainant has met his or her burden of showing that there is 

no defense to a cause of action if that party has proved each element of the 

cause of action entitling the party to judgment on the cause of action. Once the 

plaintiff or cross-complainant has met that burden, the burden shifts to the 

defendant or cross-defendant to show that a triable issue of one or more material 

facts exists as to the cause of action or a defense thereto. … 

(Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(p)(1).) 
 

B. Grounds for Summary Judgment/Adjudication 
 
St. Mark Pittsburg seeks summary judgment/adjudication based on, at bottom, three arguments:  
 

1. Summary judgment as to all affirmative defenses is proper because the transfer 
of 908 Carpino to St. Mark at Bethel was unauthorized.  The two churches did not 
consummate their merger and, as a result, St. Mark at Bethel cannot show ownership of 
908 Carpino or any power to transfer it.  The Agreement itself is not a valid contract to 
merge and does not evidence an agreement, satisfactory of the Statute of Frauds, to 
transfer 908 Carpino to St. Mark at Bethel.  Only Pastor Rodney McNab and others 
elected as officers in August, 2012, as provided in the amended bylaws, had authority 
to transfer 908 Carpino on its behalf.  Their election is presumed valid because more 
than nine months have passed since the election and more than three years have 
passed for purposes of a fraud claim.  Finally, the Court has entered defaults against 
New Bethel, Thomas, and Craig, which effectively concedes the material allegation that 
no merger occurred.   
 
2. Summary judgment should be granted as to all affirmative defenses for St. Mark 
at Bethel’s failure to provide adequate discovery responses or any facts supporting any 
of its affirmative defenses. 
 
3. Affirmative defenses 13, 14, and 16 – for performance, accord and satisfaction 
and novation – must be summarily adjudicated because St. Mark at Bethel admitted 
there was no modification and the parties never completed the merger.   

 
C. Ruling on Summary Judgment/Adjudication 

 
The motion for summary judgment on the basis that the transfer of 908 Carpino was improper is 
denied.  While the evidence shows that the churches did not complete their merger, a triable 
issue of fact exists as to whether the individuals purporting to transfer 908 Carpino had the 
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authority to do so.  Separately, the motion for summary adjudication is granted in part and 
denied in part. 
 

i. Merger 
 
St. Mark Pittsburg first argues that the churches never merged.  Thus, St. Mark at Bethel, 
“fraudulently using St. Mark [Pittsburg]’s identity” (St. Mark Pittsburg MPA, p. 12), improperly 
recorded a grant deed transferring 908 Carpino to St. Mark at Bethel.  But much as before, the 
issue is not so much whether the churches merged, but whether the parties purporting to 
transfer 908 Carpino could do so on behalf of St. Mark Pittsburg. 
 

1. The churches did not formally complete their merger. 
 
First, the churches never completed their merger.  Corporations Code § 9640 governs mergers 
of religious organizations.  Section 9460(c) requires that the members of the groups approve the 
principal terms of the merger.  Section 9460(d) sets forth the requirements for a merger 
agreement, which “shall” state, among other things, the terms and conditions of the merger, as 
well as the amendments to the articles and bylaws of the surviving corporation to be effected by 
the merger. 
 
The Agreement here does not suffice.  It specifically states that the details of the merger would 
be decided later.  The members could not have approved the terms and conditions of the 
merger when none were stated.  Nor does the document satisfy the requirements of Section 
9460(d) in terms of identifying the amendments of bylaws and articles to be effected.  The 
churches may have approved the merger in concept, but it never moved beyond that.  This is 
consistent with the filings and statement made by St. Mark at Bethel’s counsel, Mr. Lucas, in the 
bankruptcy proceeding of New Bethel that the merger was not consummated.  (See St. Mark 
Pittsburg’s Request for Judicial Notice, Exhs. P, Q.)    
 
Corporations Code § 1106 does not resolve this issue, as St. Mark at Bethel argues, because it 
merely sets out when a copy of a merger agreement can be accepted in evidence as an original.  
It neither cures a defective or incomplete merger agreement, nor substitutes for the approvals 
required under Corporations Code § 9460.  
 

2. There may nevertheless be a basis for estoppel or a similar theory 
as to merger. 

 
Despite the absence of compliance with the formal requirements of the Corporations Code, 
however, the Court has some concern about whether St. Mark at Bethel may nevertheless be 
able to show merger via a less technical theory, such as estoppel to deny the fact of a merger in 
operative reality.  There are facts suggesting that notwithstanding the incomplete merger 
paperwork, all persons involved – including Pastor McNab, the former officers and directors of 
St. Mark Pittsburg, and the persons now claiming to represent an independent St. Mark 
Pittsburg – conducted themselves for at least some substantial time as if there were no separate 
and independent St. Mark Pittsburg and New Bethel, but only the merged congregation of St. 
Mark Bethel.  Not only did they conduct their internal religious affairs and business accordingly, 
but they also dealt with outside parties as a merged entity.  For example, these participants 
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allowed the putative merged church (St. Mark at Bethel) to pledge the 908 Carpino property – 
formally owned by St. Mark Pittsburg – as security for a loan made to St. Mark at Bethel, and 
used to improve the Central Avenue property.  That conduct may be hard to square with a 
contentions that there was no merger, and that St. Mark Pittsburg remained in realistic existence 
as an operational separate church. 
 
This possibility is not well explored in the papers filed by either side on these cross-motions.  St. 
Mark at Bethel discusses the relevant facts, but does not articulate them in terms of estoppel or 
the like.  It adduces the facts as, in effect, circumstantial evidence in support of the formal 
validity of the merger.  That tactic doesn’t work, because the direct evidence proves that the 
merger was not formally valid.  Having failed to carry the day on the formalities, St. Mark at 
Bethel doesn’t drop the other shoe by arguing in terms of estoppel. 
 
St. Mark Pittsburg, for its part, simply skips over this set of facts.  That is not necessarily an 
improper tactical move; St. Mark Pittsburg correctly argues that it can beat the formal merger 
theory on the formalities, and it is not obligated to respond fully to an estoppel-style theory that 
its opponent never really articulates. 
 
The Court is nevertheless concerned that a theory along these lines should be considered in 
deciding the merits of this case.  If the case were otherwise appropriate for summary judgment, 
the Court might feel obligated to ask for the parties’ submissions.  Since summary judgment and 
adjudication must be denied in any event, the Court need not reach this possibility now.  It does 
tee the issue up, however, for future consideration. 
 

3. Triable issues of fact exist as to whether the individuals purporting 
to transfer 908 Carpino on St. Mark Pittsburg’s behalf acted 
without authority. 

 
But merger is only half of the question, because the grant deed purported to transfer the 
property on behalf of St. Mark Pittsburg.  (See St. Mark Pittsburg’s RJN, Exh. G [Grant Deed].)  
It lists two grantors:  Thomas (as St. Mark Pittsburg’s Deacon) and Craig.  (Id.)  Assuming that 
St. Mark Pittsburg was still in meaningful existence (because the merger didn’t occur), then, his 
puts front-and-center the question of who had the authority to authorize St. Mark Pittsburg’s 
transfer of 908 Carpino.   
 
The Court of Appeal’s decision on the lis pendens and preliminary injunction speaks to this in 
some detail.  The question there was whether the individuals purporting to act on behalf of St. 
Mark Pittsburg in seeking the lis pendens (the McNab group) sufficiently demonstrated that 
authority such that they were likely to prevail on the merits.  The Court, affirming the trial court, 
held that they did not and therefore did not demonstrate a probability of success on the merits 
for an injunction barring sale of 908 Carpino.  
 
The evidence is largely unchanged; indeed, many of the declarations in support of this motion 
were executed in 2012 and 2013 and simply re-filed.  But one significant piece of evidence is 
new:  St. Mark Pittsburg includes minutes recording the August 5, 2012, vote to elect McNab 
and others as its officers – and most significantly, McNab himself as Pastor, Evans as Trustee 
Chairman, Jimmy Ray Butcher as Deacon, since their approval was required under the revised 
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Bylaws to sell 908 Carpino.  (See St. Mark Pittsburg RJN, Exh. C [amended bylaws].)  St. Mark 
Pittsburg had not presented this evidence before because the prior briefing focused on the 
merger issue.  (See Reply, at pp. 4-5.)  The Court of Appeal cited a lack of minutes as one 
reason why the McNab group was unlikely to prove its authority.  (St. Mark at *14.)  Providing 
those minutes is certainly helpful to St. Mark Pittsburg’s case.  There is still a missing piece, 
though, namely who was acting, and on what authority, at the August 5 meeting.  Any Tom, 
Dick, and Harry might meet, select themselves as the officers and directors of a corporation, 
and write up minutes to that effect.  But that doesn’t make it so, unless they can establish that 
they were indeed the persons with proper authority to take those actions.  Here, there is 
considerable factual uncertainty as to who was present at the August 5 meeting, and who was 
purporting to act on the corporation’s behalf.  If the persons acting at that meeting were only a 
rump group of breakaway dissidents, they can generate all the minutes they want and it won’t 
prove that they are acting as the proper representatives of St. Mark Pittsburg.  That remains to 
be seen. 
 
Triable issues of fact exist.  Even with the minutes and bylaws, the Court is not in any better 
position than the Court of Appeal was to determine what happened at the July 23, 2012, 
member meeting or the validity of the vote taken, or whether the election of officers for St. Mark 
Pittsburg, recorded in the minutes, was in fact valid given the previously-existing authority of 
other individuals.  (See St. Mark, 2015 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 9229, *13, 14 [“…[T]here is 
evidence establishing the ongoing, uncontested leadership, both before and after the asserted 
merger, of individuals who were formerly affiliated with St. Mark Pittsburg and who did not join 
the McNab breakaway group…”].)  Many of these facts remain unchanged from the Court of 
Appeal’s opinion: 
 

In the 2010 merger talks, for instance, St. Mark Pittsburg was represented by its 

then undisputed leaders Lawrence Thomas, LaShon Craig, Julius Jones, and 

Bertha Gosha.  The written merger agreement was signed by Thomas, Jones, and 

Gosha. While McNabb also signed, he did so as pastor, not as an individual with 

governing authority of St. Mark Pittsburg.  Later in 2010, Thomas and Jones 

executed the loan secured by the Carpino Avenue property. And after McNab and 

his followers left the new church, Thomas, Craig, and Gosha continued to sign 

documents in their capacity as leaders of St. Mark Pittsburg, for the benefit of the 

unified church. 

While McNab, Tiara Jones and Chantal Evans later filed papers asserting they 

were the true officers of St. Mark Pittsburg, they were not chosen not by the full 

congregation of St. Mark Pittsburg, but by the small group that left the unified 

church with McNab.  Evans did not know whether there was any kind of quorum at 

the meeting where she assertedly became an officer. She further conceded that 

Thomas and Julius Jones had been trustees of St. Mark Pittsburg prior to the 

merger and, to her knowledge, that status never changed during the unified 

operation of the churches. … 

 
(St. Mark at *12-14.) 
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Thus, while the minutes and bylaws are perhaps helpful to St. Mark Pittsburg’s position, they are 
not sufficient to entitle it to judgment as a matter of law in light of the many factual disputes 
concerning the authority of other individuals. 
 

ii. The challenge to the election of McNab, Jones, and Evans as officers of 
St. Mark Pittsburg was timely. 

 
Corporations Code § 5527 provides:  “An action challenging the validity of any election, 

appointment or removal of a director or directors must be commenced within nine months after 

the election, appointment or removal. If no such action is commenced, in the absence of fraud, 

any election, appointment or removal of a director is conclusively presumed valid nine months 

thereafter.” 

St. Mark Pittsburg argues that the election of McNab, Jones, and Evans to officer positions is 
now immune from challenge because more than nine months have passed (Corp. Code § 5527) 
and more than three years have passed for the purposes of any fraud-related claim.  (See Fox 
v. Ethicon Endo-Surgery, Inc. (2005) 35 Cal.4th 797, 808.)  Therefore, the election is 
unassailable and only these officers could authorize St. Mark Pittsburg’s sale of 908 Carpino. 
 
The Court is not convinced.  Filing of the motion to expunge the lis pendens occurred on April 
25, 2013, less than nine months after the election and far less than three years thereafter.  For 
purposes of that motion and the preliminary injunction, both the trial court and Court of Appeal 
held that the McNab group was unlikely to succeed on its claim to authority to act on St. Mark 
Pittsburg’s behalf.  (See St. Mark, 2015 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 9229, *10-11, 12 [“The trial 
court granted expungement on the ground the McNab/St. Mark Pittsburg group did not establish 
the probable validity of its real property claims .… The record contains substantial evidence 
supporting the trial court's determination that McNab and his followers are not the rightful 
leaders of St. Mark…”].)  Thus, St. Mark at Bethel has sufficiently, and timely, challenged the 
election of these officers, and in fact won that challenge at least for the limited purpose of 
expunging the lis pendens and defeating the injunction.   
 
Moreover, while there doesn’t appear to be any case law (even unpublished) construing § 5527, 
the Court has some doubt as to whether the statute can reasonably be applied to something 
that is only a purported election, appointment, or removal, when there is dispute as to whether 
the persons so acting have any serious claim to be acting on behalf of the corporation.  If the 
recognized board of directors of Safeway conduct what appears to be a shareholder election to 
select Safeway’s board of directors, and thereafter someone wishes to challenge that election 
(say, on the basis that the notice to shareholders was legally insufficient, or that the vote was 
short of a quorum), then § 5527 establishes a nine-month window for the challenge.  But 
suppose a group of drinking buddies gets together at Moe’s Bar and purports to “elect” 
themselves as the directors of Safeway.  The Court finds it hard to credit that that “election” 
becomes self-validating and uncontestable, and the drinking buddies actually become the board 
of Safeway, if no one files a suit to challenge it within nine months.  The difference between the 
two hypotheticals is whether there is a basis for considering the “election” as actually 
constituting a corporate election, as opposed to an empty action of pretenders or wannabes – 
and that basis is a predicate or foundational fact to the applicability of the section.  Textually, 
only if an action facially appears to be an “election, appointment, or removal of a director” does 
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that action constitute an “election, appointment or removal” the validity of which is presumed 
after nine months.  The party asserting the limitations period, and invoking the conclusive 
presumption, must establish that predicate fact before invoking the statute.  Here, whether the 
McNab group had any claim to being “the shareholders of Safeway”, or whether they were just 
“the group of drinking buddies”, is precisely the issue being contested. 
 
On some facts it may be difficult to see exactly where to draw the line between the two 
hypotheticals.  The issue is somewhat clarified, however, by focusing on who is suing whom 
here.  If this case were a complaint brought by St. Mark at Bethel to challenge the August 2012 
election, then St. Mark Pittburg could have a better basis for invoking § 5527 as a limitations 
defense.  But in fact, the McNab group (identifying themselves as St. Mark Pittburg) are the 
plaintiff here. Their causes of action all require, as a central foundational basis, that they must 
establish that they are St. Mark Pittsburg, and that the actions taken at the August 2012 meeting 
were legitimate acts of St. Mark Pittsburg rather than the ineffective pose of a breakaway group 
of dissidents.  Thus, the burden is on plaintiff to establish that this is so.  If they cannot prove 
that, not only do all of their causes of action fail, but indeed there is no plaintiff properly before 
the Court. 
 
Nothing is added by St. Mark Pittsburg’s invocation of the statute of limitations for fraud.  No one 
is asserting that the August 5 election constituted a fraud in the actionable-tort sense. 
 

iii. The defaults do not decide the issue of authority as against St. Mark at 
Bethel.  

 
Next, St. Mark Pittsburg asserts that defaults taken against several defendants – which post-
date the Court of Appeal opinion – constitute an admission that no merger took place and that 
the McNab group alone could transfer St. Mark Pittsburg’s property.  Specifically, the Court has 
entered defaults as to both individuals who purported to sign the grant deed on behalf of St. 
Mark Pittsburg (Thomas and Craig) and as to New Bethel, the entity that allegedly merged with 
St. Mark Pittsburg.  
 
The Court is concerned with the apparent gamesmanship of various defendants, who default but 

then physically appear for hearings and other parties’ depositions, or have submitted 

declarations in opposition to this motion.  (See. e.g., Joint Declaration of Thomas [defaulted] and 

Jones, submitted by St, Mark at Bethel.)  But St. Mark at Bethel has not defaulted; it answered 

and opposes the motion.  Plaintiff offers no authority for the proposition that a default should 

prejudice any party other than the defaulting one. (See Johnson v. Stanheiser (1999) 72 

Cal.App.4th 357, 361 [“the party who makes default thereby confesses the material 

allegations of the complaint”], emphasis added.)  

 
iv. Defective discovery responses do not shift the burden of production to St. 

Mark at Bethel in light of the Court of Appeal’s opinion and related 
evidence. 

 
St. Mark Pittsburg argues that allegedly defective discovery responses show that St. Mark at 
Bethel has no facts to support its affirmative defenses.  This shifts the burden of production to 
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St. Mark at Bethel and, St. Mark Pittsburg argues, justifies summary judgment of all affirmative 
defenses in its favor.  
 
The primary case St. Mark Pittsburg cites for this proposition is Andrews v. Foster Wheeler, LLC 
(2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 96, 101.  Andrews, quoting Scheiding v. Dinwiddie Construction Co. 
(1999) 60 Cal. App.4th 64, 69, held:  “Circumstantial evidence supporting a summary judgment 
motion ‘can consist of ‘factually devoid’ discovery responses from which an absence of evidence 
can be inferred,’ but ‘the burden should not shift without stringent review of the direct, 
circumstantial and inferential evidence.’”  (136 Cal.App.4th at 101.) 
 
The Court generally agrees that the discovery responses are evasive.  For example, in 
response to Form Interrogatory 15.1 which asks for “each denial of material allegation and each 
special or affirmative defense,” St Mark’s at Bethel replies:  “We are not denying any special or 
affirmative defense.”  (See St. Mark Pittsburg’s Undisputed Material Fact No. 45.)  This is, of 
course, not what the question asks.  It asks for information concerning each denial and each 
affirmative defense, not whether the party asserting affirmative defenses is also denying them. 
 
But there are problems with shifting the burden and summarily adjudicating affirmative defenses 
in St. Mark Pittsburg’s favor.  First, a defendant (such as in Andrews) can defeat summary 
judgment without proving any affirmative defenses, because it may also negate an element of 
plaintiff’s claims.  (See Code Civ. Proc. § 473c(p)(2).)  But to negate a defendant’s affirmative 
defense, a plaintiff must prove the elements of each of its causes of action. (Id., § 473c(p)(1).)  
Shifting the burden based on a defendant’s insufficient responses concerning its affirmative 
defenses improperly burdens a defendant, who could defeat a summary judgment motion 
without proving its defenses. 
 
Second, even applying Andrews and Scheiding, the burden of production does not shift absent 
this Court’s stringent review of the direct, circumstantial, and inferential evidence.  (See 
Andrews, 138 Cal.App.4th at 101.)  St. Mark Pittsburg excludes that qualifier from its multiple 
citations to Andrews.  The evidence here includes a Court of Appeal decision calling into 
question the authority of the McNab group to act on St. Mark Pittsburg’s behalf.  That power 
underlies all of St. Mark Pittsburg’s claims that only the McNab group could authorize the sale of 
908 Carpino.  Again, little of this evidence has changed since the Court of Appeal’s opinion.  
And in Andrews, the burden shifted because plaintiff both testified that he had no knowledge 
that he was exposed to defendants’ products and provided evasive written discovery responses.   
(Id. at 103.)  The two in tandem shifted the burden of production.  But the record here is far 
more developed.  Andrews did not confront a prior, on-point Court of Appeal decision based on 
a similar evidentiary record.  
 
Finally, even shifting the burden does not inexorably lead to summary judgment in St. Mark 
Pittsburg’s favor.  It merely imposes a production requirement on St. Mark at Bethel, and triable 
issues of fact exist concerning the power of the McNab group alone to authorize the transfer of 
908 Carpino. 
 

D. Ruling on Summary Adjudication of Particular Affirmative Defenses 
 
Finally, St. Mark Pittsburg seeks summary adjudication of affirmative defenses 13, 14, and 16 
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related to contract claims: performance; accord and satisfaction; and novation.  St. Mark at 
Bethel does not specifically address this argument in its opposition, save inasmuch as it is 
included in general arguments about the validity of the Agreement and the invalidity of the acts 
taken by the McNab group. 
 
Here, St. Mark Pittsburg propounded Form Interrogatory No. 50.4, asking if any agreement was 
terminated by mutual agreement, release, accord and satisfaction, or novation.   St. Mark at 
Bethel responded that the agreement was never modified but did not otherwise respond.  (See 
St. Mark Pittsburg Evidence, Exhibit 19, p. 18.)   
 
Novation is the substitution of a new and different contract for an original.  (See Civ. Code 
§§ 1530-1532.)  “A novation is subject to the general rules governing contracts and requires an 
intent to discharge the old contract, a mutual assent, and a consideration.” (Klepper v. Hoover 
(1971) 21 Cal.App.3d 460, 463.)  If the Agreement was never modified in any way, then St. 
Mark at Bethel concedes there can be no novation.  Summary adjudication of this affirmative 
defense is granted.   
 
Similarly, an accord and satisfaction is the satisfaction of a debt by something less than full 
performance.  (Civ. Code 1521.) St. Mark at Bethel identifies no accord in response to 
Interrogatory 50 4, and does not otherwise provide such evidence in opposition to the motion. 
Summary adjudication of this affirmative defense is granted.   
 
As to performance, the Court holds that there was no merger because the requirements of the 
Corporations Code were not met and the Agreement alone is insufficient to merge the churches.  
St. Mark at Bethel’s affirmative defense of performance depends on a valid agreement to merge 
– i.e., that it performed all of its obligations under the Agreement and therefore there was a 
merger.  Given the Court’s ruling, no basis for this affirmative defense remains and summary 
adjudication is granted.    
 

E. Evidentiary Issues  
 

i. Requests for Judicial Notice 
 
St. Mark at Bethel’s Request for Judicial Notice is granted as the Court of Appeal opinion.  It is 
denied as to St. Mark at Bethel’s own answer, since a court need not take judicial notice of its 
own file.  (The Court nevertheless appreciates the courtesy and convenience of pulling these 
prior pleadings together for handy location and access.) 
 
St. Mark Pittsburg’s Request for Judicial Notice is granted except as to items 10-13 and 20, for 
which the request is denied since a court need not take judicial notice of its own file. 
 

ii. St. Mark at Bethel’s Objections to Evidence 
 
These objections are overruled for failure to comply with Rule 3.1354.  Objections may not be 
incorporated into a responsive separate statement.  
 

iii. St. Mark Pittsburg’s “Objections to Responses to Separate Statement” 
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These objections are overruled for failure to comply with Rule 3.1354(b).  Objections may not be 
directed to particular responses to the statement of undisputed facts, but must identify items of 
evidence in compliance with the Rule.  
 

III. St. Mark at Bethel’s Motion for Summary Judgment 
 
St. Mark at Bethel also moves for summary judgment.  The motion is denied. St. Mark at Bethel 
does not meet its initial burden. 
 

A. Standards for Summary Judgment Motions Brought by a Defendant  
 
A motion for summary judgment “shall be granted if all the papers submitted show that there is 
no triable issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a 
matter of law.” (Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(c).) The party moving for summary judgment carries 
both the burden of persuasion and the burden of production of evidence.  (Aguilar v. Atlantic 
Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 850.)  A defendant meets the burden of showing a cause of 
action has no merit by making a prima facie showing that one or more of its elements cannot be 
established – i.e., presenting affirmative evidence illustrating that plaintiff cannot prove an 
essential element – or by showing that there is a complete defense to the claim.  (Id.; Code Civ. 
Proc. §437c(p)(2).)  “A prima facie showing is one that is sufficient to support the position of the 
party in question. [Citation.]"  (Aguilar at 851.)  
 

B. Ruling on Motion 
 
St Mark at Bethel’s motion and supporting papers are confusing and require the Court to work to 

discern the actual grounds.  The separate statement identifies issues that would not themselves 

result in summary judgment, such as particular attacks on interpretations of the contract 

documents.  (See, e.g., Separate Statement at p. 2, Issue No. 1 [Plaintiff “omits reference” to 

the Agreement]; p. 16, Issue No. 5 [what entity held the July 23 meeting].)  Thus, the Court 

could deny it outright for failure to comply with the basic requirements of a dispositive motion.  

(See Code Civ. Proc. 437c(b)(1) [papers must “plainly and concisely” set out all undisputed 

material facts and supporting evidence; failure to do so can be grounds for denial]; Cal. Rules of 

Ct., Rule 3.1350 (d)(1)(a) [separate statement must set forth each “cause of action, claim for 

damages, issue of duty, or affirmative defense that is the subject of the motion”].)  But the 

motion is substantively meritless anyway. 

 
i. St. Mark at Bethel is not entitled to summary judgment on the basis of a 

completed merger between St. Mark Pittsburg and New Bethel. 
 
First, St. Mark at Bethel argues that the merger was complete and that all parties understood 
there to be only one church – St. Mark at Bethel.  It points to multiple parts of McNab’s 
deposition where he testified that only one Board existed for St. Mark at Bethel.  (See, e.g., 
McNab Deposition at p. 62:4-6.)  Further, the McNab group could not go back to 908 Carpino 
after the July 23 meeting because the property was being used by Chapel Churches.  And 
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certain “irrevocable steps” were taken to consummate the merger, such as the lease option to 
Chapel Churches, the loan secured by 908 Carpino to assist the joint church with its other 
property, and the transfer of 908 Carpino to St. Mark at Bethel.  
 
But the Court need not get into the evidentiary weeds to discern whether McNab meant a 
“spiritual” versus corporate merger (see McNab Depo. at p. 247: 22-23), or what other 
statements or actions by other individuals suggested that the merger was complete.  By statute, 
the churches had not merged.  (Corp. Code § 9640(c),(d); see discussion, Section II(C)(i)(1), 
supra.) The Agreement states that the terms and conditions would be decided later.  And no 
statements by McNab or others can substitute for satisfying the statute.   
 
As pointed out above, this does not decide St. Mark Pittsburg’s motion in its favor because the 
question remains whether the officials of St. Mark Pittsburg had power – independent of any 
merger – to transfer 908 Carpino.  But it forecloses summary judgment in St. Mark at Bethel’s 
favor because St. Mark at Bethel cannot meet its initial burden to show a merger compliant with 
the Corporations Code.   
 

ii. St. Mark at Bethel is not entitled to summary judgment based on the 
Court of Appeal’s opinion, which evaluated a different motion on different 
standards. 

 
St. Mark at Bethel claims that the Court of Appeal’s ruling on the preliminary injunction and lis 
pendens motions is the law of the case, and therefore the McNab group did not have any 
authority to act on St. Mark Pittsburg’s behalf.   This misapprehends the nature of that opinion, 
and St. Mark at Bethel again fails to meet its burden. 
 
“The decision of an appellate court, stating a rule of law necessary to the decision of the case, 
conclusively establishes that rule and makes it determinative of the rights of the same parties in 
any subsequent retrial or appeal in the same case.”  (Morohoshi v. Pacific Home (2004) 34 Cal. 
4th 482, 491.)  But expungement of a lis pendens “is closely related to an interim determination 
of likelihood of success as part of the familiar preliminary injunction inquiry…” and thus a court 
draws upon the same inquiry for both motions.  (St. Mark, 2015 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 
9229 *10, citing Howard S. Wright Construction Co. v. Superior Court (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 
314, 320.)  
 
Here, the trial court ruled that the McNab group had not demonstrated a reasonable probability 
of success because they did not show their authority to act for St. Mark Pittsburg.  The Court of 
Appeal affirmed, holding that “given the evidence before it, the trial court did not abuse its 
discretion in ruling St. Mark Pittsburg failed to show it will likely prevail on its real property claims 
and in granting St. Mark at Bethel's motion to expunge the lis pendens.”  (2015 Cal. App. 
Unpub. LEXIS 9229 *14, emphasis added.)  This fact-based probability determination was not, 
and could never have been, a statement of law that conclusively determined the rights of the 
parties. 
 

C. Evidentiary Issues 
 

i. St. Mark Pittsburg’s Request for Judicial Notice 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   12 
HEARING DATE:   06/29/18 

 
 

- 19 - 

 
The request is granted as to items 1-7, 9, 14-19, and 21-23.  (Evid. Code § 452.)   It is denied as 
to items 8, 10-13, and 20, as the Court need not judicially notice its own records.  
 

ii. St. Mark Pittsburg’s Evidentiary Objections 
 
The Court declines to rule on objections 1-41, as they are immaterial in light of its decision that 
St. Mark at Bethel does not meet its initial burden.  (Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(q).)  Objections 42 – 
67 are separately overruled for failure to comply with Rule 3.1354(b).  Objections may not be 
directed to particular responses to the statement of undisputed facts, but must identify items of 
evidence in compliance with the Rule. 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC12-02083 
CASE NAME: ST. MARK VS. SAINT MARK 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION 
FILED BY SAINT MARK AT BETHEL MISSIONARY BAPTIST CHURCH 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 2. 
 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00839 
CASE NAME: CERLETTI VS. YOUNG 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND COMPLAINT 
FILED BY THOMAS CERLETTI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Moving counsel to appear.  The motion to amend is unopposed by the present defendant, 
and the Court understands why it is necessary to ascertain insurance coverage in order to 
proceed with the case against the other driver.  But the Court has concerns about whether 
the coverage issue should be litigated in the same case as the accident itself.  Among other 
reasons, if the issues are to be tried they would surely require separate trials. 
 
If moving counsel prefers, he or she may decline to appear, and the motion will be deemed 
dropped. 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01299 
CASE NAME: 29 SW LLC VS. HASSAN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO VACATE DISMISSAL OF CROSS-COMPLAINT 
FILED BY CHRISTINA BOOMERSHINE, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued by the Court to July 13, 2018, at 9:00 a.m. in Department 12.  The Court notes that 
there is another motion set to be heard on July 6, 2018.  It will serve the convenience of the 
parties and the Court, as well as conserve judicial resources, to hear that matter on July 13 
concurrently with these matters.  Accordingly, it also is continued to July 13. 
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 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01299 
CASE NAME: 29 SW LLC VS. HASSAN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY CHRISTINA BOOMERSHINE, PACIFIC FINANCIAL CA LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 5. 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01299 
CASE NAME: 29 SW LLC VS. HASSAN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO DISQUALIFY PLAINTIFF’S COUNSEL OF RECORD 
FILED BY ANTON DANILOVICH, PREMIER ESTATES INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 5. 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00412 
CASE NAME: NARLOCH VS. NSH MANAGEMENT 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY NSH MANAGEMENT OF CALIFORNIA, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
These motions are continued to July 6. 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00412 
CASE NAME: NARLOCH VS. NSH MGMT 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION OF CLAIM 1 FOR 
DECLARATORY RELIEF    FILED BY DR. JOSEPH NARLOCH, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
These motions are continued to July 6. 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01020 
CASE NAME: KONE VS PARK 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR VACATE AND SET ASIDE ORDER OF DISMISSAL 
FILED BY BRENT KONE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff’s motion under Code of Civil Procedure § 473(b) for relief from dismissal is granted.  
The dismissal entered on January 10, 2018 is vacated. 
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However, plaintiff still has the problem intended to be addressed at the January 10 hearing, 
namely why the case should not be dismissed for failure to serve the defendant.  The case is 
now over a year old.  Accordingly, the case is set for July 29, 2018 at 8:30 a.m. for an order to 
show cause why the case should not be dismissed for failure to serve and failure to prosecute. 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01709 
CASE NAME: WIND VS. SHANE 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ATTORNEY FEES 
FILED BY JOHN WIND, SHIVA NIAZI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant Shane brought an anti-SLAPP motion against the entire complaint in this case, as 
well as against particular causes of action in it.  The Court granted that motion as to one cause 
of action, as well as against allegations of certain conduct adduced in support of other causes of 
action.  The Court denied the motion as frivolous, however, as to other causes of action (and 
thus as to the complaint as a whole).  On still other causes of action the Court denied the 
motion, but did not view those contentions as frivolous. 
 
Having secured a ruling that defendant’s anti-SLAPP motion was frivolous in part, plaintiffs now 
bring the present motion for attorney fees under subd. (c)(1) of the anti-SLAPP statute, Code of 
Civil Procedure § 425.16(c)(1):  “If the court finds that a special motion to strike is frivolous or is 
solely intended to cause unnecessary delay, the court shall award costs and reasonable 
attorney’s fees to a plaintiff prevailing on the motion, pursuant to Section 128.5.” 
 
The motion is denied. 
 
Unaddressed in plaintiffs’ motion (or in defendant’s opposition, for that matter) is the question 
whether fees can be awarded under § 425.16(c)(1) when the anti-SLAPP motion was only 
partially frivolous, as was true here.  Gerbosi v. Gaims, Weil, West & Epstein (2011) 193 
Cal.App.4th 435, 450, squarely holds that they may not.  The defendant Gaims brought an anti-
SLAPP motion against the complaint of Finn.  The court of appeal held that the anti-SLAPP 
motion could not succeed as to part of Finn’s complaint, because it alleged criminal conduct.  
The court did not directly label this part of Gaims’s motion as “frivolous”, but it is apparent that 
the court so viewed it, or at least thought it possible that it could be so viewed.  Another part of 
Finn’s complaint, however, was properly stricken on Gaims’s anti-SLAPP motion.  Id. at 445-49. 
 
Turning to Finn’s fee motion, then, the court held (cursorily but squarely) that the trial court erred 
in awarding fees because Gaims’s motion was partially successful. 
 

Gaims's anti-SLAPP motion as to Finn's complaint is different because, for the 
reasons we explained above, it had partial merit.  Section 128.5, subdivision 

https://advance.lexis.com/search/?pdmfid=1000516&crid=28d40366-6ea9-4943-bad7-e8e0d19980cd&pdsearchterms=193+cal+app+4th+451&pdstartin=hlct%3A1%3A1&pdtypeofsearch=searchboxclick&pdsearchtype=SearchBox&pdqttype=and&pdpsf=&pdquerytemplateid=&ecomp=4trc9kk&earg=pdpsf&prid=6916e8ec-08eb-49ce-a39a-5e204791f0fe
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(b)(2), defines frivolous to mean “totally and completely” without merit, or for the 
“sole” purpose of harassing an opposing party.  When a motion has partial merit, 
it is not “totally and completely” without merit, nor can it be said that its “sole” 
purpose is to harass. 

 
Id. at 450.  The same is true here:  Defendant’s motion was frivolous in part, but meritorious in 
part.  Under Gerbosi that means that the motion cannot be deemed frivolous for purposes of 
recovering fees under § 425.16(c)(1). 
 
It is worth noting that if a fee claim such as plaintiffs’ were viable, it would often raise the 
unseemly and awkward prospect of both sides recovering attorney fees on the same 
anti-SLAPP motion.  That is not inevitably true, since an anti-SLAPP motion might be deemed 
frivolous in part but only unmeritorious in part.  But where – as here, and as in Gerbosi – 
the anti-SLAPP motion is actually granted in part, the defendant would be entitled to recover 
fees for the successful motion.  (Jackson v. Yarbray (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 75, 92.)  As it 
happens, defendant here has elected not to seek fees, but she could have; and the structural 
problem remains. 
 
Finally, the Court notes that even if plaintiffs were entitled to seek their fees here, their recovery 
would be limited to only those fees incurred on what plaintiffs call the property claims – not fees 
incurred to research and brief SLAPP issues generally, which represent amounts they would 
have incurred even if defendant had left out the frivolous parts. 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00359 
CASE NAME: LACOME VS/ WELLS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT 
FILED BY KELLY WELLS, DOLORES STREET COMMUNITY SERVICES, INC., 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued by the Court to July 13, 2018 at 9:00 a.m. in Department 12. 
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13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00510 
CASE NAME: CREEKSIDE VS. GIBRALTAR 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY GIBRALTAR INVESTMENTS LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
A dismissal of this case was filed on June 27. 

 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00510 
CASE NAME: CREEKSIDE VS. GIBRALTAR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO TRANSFER ACTION 
FILED BY GIBRALTAR INVESTMENTS LLC, CREEKSIDE SHOPPING CENTER II, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
A dismissal of this case was filed on June 27. 

 

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00510 
CASE NAME: CREEKSIDE VS. GIBRALTAR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL ARBITRATION & FOR DISMISSAL 
FILED BY GIBRALTAR INVESTMENTS LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
A dismissal of this case was filed on June 27. 

 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL17-00998 
CASE NAME: KORB VS. ROMERO 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended CROSS-COMPLAINT of ROMERO 
FILED BY RICHARD E. KORB 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Cross-defendants Korb and Gould demur to the first amended cross-complaint (FAXC) of 
cross-complainant Romero.  The demurrer is sustained with leave to amend as to the 
cause of action for intentional infliction.  It is overruled otherwise. 
 
Romero may (but is not required to) file and serve a second amended cross-complaint by July 
30, 2018.  If he does not do so, the third cause of action will be deemed abandoned and cross-
defendants must file and serve answers to the FAXC by August 27. 
 
The FAXC’s first cause of action is for fraud; the second, for fraudulent concealment; and the 
third, for intentional infliction of emotional distress.  The FAXC is lengthy, containing a detailed 
narrative of Romero’s side of the story on this home-remodeling contractor dispute.  His actual 
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causes of action, however, are far briefer – only a few pages, relying on only a few of the 
misdeeds alleged throughout the preceding narrative. 
 

The Two Fraud Claims 
 
The first two causes of action adequately allege fraud.  Taken together, they allege that cross-
defendants falsely misrepresented that the prior kitchen contractor was licensed, and was being 
replaced only due to his illness.  They also misrepresented that they had obtained permits for 
the kitchen remodeling project.  In fact (the causes of action allege), the job was unpermitted; 
the prior contractor had been fired for botched electrical work; and the prior work was 
substandard.  Cross-defendants also concealed their knowledge of prior unpermitted alterations 
to the kitchen.  This was all done to induce Romero to take the contracting job.  He alleges that 
had he known the true facts about the state of the kitchen, the poor quality of prior work, the lack 
of permit, and Korb’s history of firing contractors, he would not have taken this job, or at least 
would have charged a higher price.  Given how contentious and fraught the contracting 
relationship among these parties turned out to be, it is no stretch to allege that taking the job in 
reliance on these misrepresentations and concealments constituted harm to Romero. 
 
The Court rejects defendants’ contention that these counts are pleaded with insufficient 
specificity, especially in light of the incorporation of the preceding 86 paragraphs of narrative 
into the causes of action. 
 
Cross-defendants also assert that admissions in the prior narrative paragraphs disprove 
Romero’s claim of lack of knowledge and reliance, because they reveal various red flags that 
tipped Romero before he signed the contract that there were problems with the quality of work.  
Only one of these, however (the capped gas line, ¶ 7) is alleged to have occurred before the 
contract was signed – and it could speak only to the existence of prior remodeling work, not to 
either the poor quality of that work or the poor quality of the work done by the prior contractor on 
this job.  The Court has likewise examined the other asserted contradictions on which cross-
defendants rely.  They may be fodder for cross-examination, but they are not enough to defeat 
these claims at the pleading stage. 
 

The Intentional Infliction Claim 
 
Having spent twenty-odd pages alleging that cross-defendants (and Korb in particular) are 
dishonest remodeling customers who cheat their contractors for unfair monetary advantage, 
Romero shifts gears in his third cause of action, alleging intentional infliction of emotional 
distress – as if cross-defendants’ purpose all along was not really to cheat him (and others) out 
of money through dishonest treatment of contractors, but actually just to torment Romero (and 
other contractors) emotionally, just for the meanness of it.  In deciding whether to amend this 
claim, Romero may want to consider whether this is really his theory of the case, or whether he 
might instead seek emotional-distress damages on other substantive theories of liability. 
 
The tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress requires “(1) extreme and outrageous 
conduct by the defendant with the intention of causing, or reckless disregard of the probability of 
causing, emotional distress; (2) the plaintiff's suffering severe or extreme emotional distress; 
and (3) actual and proximate causation of the emotional distress by the defendant's outrageous 
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conduct....  Conduct to be outrageous must be so extreme as to exceed all bounds of that 
usually tolerated in a civilized community.”  [Citation.]  The defendant must have engaged in 
“conduct intended to inflict injury or engaged in with the realization that injury will result.”  
(Potter v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co. (1993) 6 Cal.4th 965, 1001 (citations and internal 
quotation marks omitted). 
 
Romero alleges various forms of commercial misconduct on cross-defendants’ part, including 
the frauds alleged above and their allegedly retaliatory termination of Romero for his refusal to 
do uncompensated work outside the scope of his contract.  There are a variety of ways in which 
such alleged conduct might be categorized into one or more actionable theories.  Intentional 
infliction, however, is not one of them.  However bad and dishonest cross-defendants’ conduct 
is alleged to be, this was all in the setting of an arms-length commercial relationship.  Dishonest 
business conduct will rarely if ever rise to the level of conduct “so extreme as to exceed all 
bounds of that usually tolerated in a civilized community” (Potter, 6 Cal.4th at 1001), at least if it 
is short of the level of Snidely Whiplash driving the widows and orphans into the snow.  Neither 
will such misconduct usually be deemed of a level likely to cause the kind of “severe or extreme 
emotional distress” required for this tort.  Society does not expect a wronged construction 
contractor to refrain from complaining, or from seeking full redress.  Bluntly, though, it does 
expect him to be a little thicker-skinned about business setbacks and dishonesties than Romero 
depicts himself as being here. 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL17-00998 
CASE NAME: KORB VS. ROMERO 
HEARING ON JOINDER TO DEMURRER 
FILED BY PAULINE GOULD 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 16. 

 

  

18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL17-02238 
CASE NAME: WHITE VS. ECKER 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE DISMISSAL 
FILED BY ANAS ALI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff Anas Ali – (who originally filed this case under the name Latywan White, but who now 
states that Anas Ali is his true name) – filed this action against Jerry Ecker, a police officer.  
In his first amended complaint he purported to add other defendants including the Richmond 
Police Department.  That agency filed a demurrer and motion to strike.  Apparently in response, 
plaintiff filed a Request for Dismissal, dismissing the entire action and all causes of action.  
The Court accepted the request and entered the dismissal on April 10, 2018. 
 
Plaintiff now files a motion to set aside the dismissal.  He states no facts in support of this 
motion, however, nor does he argue any legal basis for his motion beyond quoting the California 
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Constitution’s due process clause.  Plaintiff presents no grounds for relieving himself of his own 
voluntary dismissal of this case. 
 
Further, the Court’s prior ruling on Ecker’s demurrer to the first amended complaint explains why 
plaintiff has no possible claim in this case in any event. 
 
The motion is therefore denied. 

  

19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL17-02238 
CASE NAME: WHITE VS. ECKER 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE 
FILED BY ANAS ALI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff’s motion to “change venue” is moot.  The action was dismissed in April, and the Court 
is now denying plaintiff’s motion for relief from that dismissal (Line 18).  In any event, the City of 
Richmond Claims Administrator is not a venue to which a civil action, filed in Superior Court, 
might be transferred. 

 

  

20.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN18-0710 
CASE NAME: IN RE 1276 WALNUT MEADOWS DRIVE 
HEARING ON UNRESOLVED CLAIMS RE SURPLUS PROCEEDS 
FILED BY QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORP 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
This Court previously granted this petition for deposit of surplus funds from a trustee’s sale, 
and ordered that notice be sent to known potential claimants, giving them an opportunity to file 
claims to all or any part of the surplus proceeds. 
 
The only such claim to date was filed by Carole Stiavetti, who was (the Court infers) a friend or 
neighbor of the decedent homeowner, Terry Booth.  Ms. Stiavetti voluntarily paid the funeral 
expenses for Mr. Booth out of her own pocket.  The claim is meritorious, and it is allowed.  
The Court salutes Ms. Stiavetti for her willingness to step up and ensure that Mr. Booth received 
a proper funeral. 
 
The clerk of court is ordered to pay $2,317.50 to Ms. Stiavetti, from the funds deposited 
in this case. 

 

 

 


